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Armanino LLP 

6 Cityplace DR 
Suite 900 
St. Louis, MO 63141-7194 
314-983-1200       main 
armaninoLLP.com 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

Board of Directors 
The Lutheran Church—Missouri Synod and Subsidiaries 
St. Louis, Missouri 

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Lutheran Church—Missouri Synod 
and Subsidiaries (the “Organization”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as of 
June 30, 2021 and the related consolidated statement of activities, functional expenses, and cash flows for the year 
then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements.  

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud.  

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We did 
not audit the financial statements of LCMS Holdings, Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary, which statements reflect 
total assets of $190,431,000 as of June 30, 2021, and total revenues of $65,626,000 for the year then ended. Those 
statements, which were prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the 
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, were audited by 
other auditors in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants, whose report has been furnished to us. We have applied audit procedures on the conversion 
adjustments to the financial statements of LCMS Holdings, Ltd., which conform those financial statements to 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinion, insofar as it relates to the 
amounts included for LCMS Holdings, Ltd., prior to these conversion adjustments, is based solely on the report 
of, and additional audit procedures to meet the relevant requirements of auditing standards generally accepted in 
the United States of America performed by, the other auditors. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Organization’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that 



are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Organization’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 

Opinion  

In our opinion, based on our audit and the report of other auditors, the consolidated financial statements referred 
to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Lutheran Church—
Missouri Synod and Subsidiaries as of June 30, 2021, and the consolidated changes in their net assets and their 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America. 

Prior Period Financial Statements 

The consolidated financial statements as of June 30, 2020, were audited by Brown Smith Wallace, LLP, whose 
practice became part of ArmaninoLLP as of August 1, 2021, and whose report dated November 19, 2020, expressed 
an unmodified opinion on those statements with the following information regarding LCMS Holding, Ltd. 

Brown Smith Wallace, LLP did not audit the financial statements of LCMS Holdings, Ltd., a wholly owned 
subsidiary, which statements reflect total assets of $163,489,000 as of June 30, 2020, and total revenues of 
$63,630,000 for the year then ended. Those statements, which were prepared in accordance with Hong Kong 
Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance, were audited by other auditors in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing 
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, whose report has been furnished to us. Brown 
Smith Wallace, LLP applied audit procedures on the conversion adjustments to the financial statements of LCMS 
Holdings, Ltd., which conform those financial statements to accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America. Their opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for LCMS Holdings, Ltd., prior to 
these conversion adjustments, is based solely on the report of the other auditors.  

ArmaninoLLP 
St. Louis, Missouri 

November 18, 2021 



2021 2020
ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents:
Domestic operations 30,909$     28,947$     
LCMS Holdings, Ltd. Hong Kong 65,130       89,936       

Total cash and cash equivalents 96,039       118,883     
Accrued interest and dividends receivable 720            627            
Contributions receivable – net (Note F) 14,579       14,872       
Notes and accounts receivable:

From Synod-related parties 983            2,135         
From others 5,642         6,095         

Total notes and accounts receivable 6,625         8,230         
Land, buildings, and equipment – net of depreciation (Note G) 43,823       45,597       
Investments (Note C) 154,453     84,309       
Funds held in custody by others (Note H) 32,114       24,640       
Prepaid expenses – Convention and Youth Gathering 1,329         -            
Other assets 2,204         2,161         

TOTAL ASSETS 351,886$   299,319$   

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 12,565$     13,403$     
Support payable (Note I) 3,105         2,502         
Funds on deposit by related entities 145            986            
Notes payable (Note J) 18,078       27,130       
Deferred revenue:

Convention and Youth Gathering 43              -            
Tuition and fees 42,817       30,695       

Total deferred revenue 42,860       30,695       
Advance payments on third-party billings 11,785       14,652       
Capital lease obligations (Note W) 984            1,206         
Other liabilities 8,799         2,373         
Funds held in custody for others 699            685            

Total liabilities 99,020       93,632       

Net assets
Without donor restrictions:

Undesignated 75,256       46,773       
Board designated (Note K) 21,649       20,989       
Net investment in land, buildings and equipment 42,839       44,391       

Total without donor restrictions 139,744     112,153     
With donor restrictions:

Temporary in nature (Note L) 67,330       54,662       
Perpetual in nature (Note M) 45,792       38,872       

Total with donor restrictions 113,122     93,534       

Total net assets 252,866     205,687     

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 351,886$   299,319$   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

In Thousands

THE LUTHERAN CHURCH—MISSOURI SYNOD AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
June 30, 2021 and 2020
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(In Thousands) Without
Donor Temporary Perpetual

Restrictions in Nature in Nature Total Total
Support, revenues, and gains

Support:
District pledge 229$           12,428$      -$            12,428$      12,657$      
Gifts and grants 4,887          30,355        1,031          31,386        36,273        
Bequests 1,553          7,925          - 7,925 9,478          
Contributed services (Note N) - 180 - 180 180             

Total support 6,669          50,888        1,031          51,919        58,588        

Revenues:
Investment, trust and other income 2,728          3,122          - 3,122 5,850          
Sales and services (Note O) 2,420          -              -              - 2,420          
Concordia Plan Services 31,224        -              -              -              31,224        
LCMS Holdings Limited – tuition and other 65,626        -              -              -              65,626        

Total revenues 101,998      3,122          - 3,122 105,120      

Net realized & unrealized gain on investments 3,393          3,273          - 3,273 6,666          
Change in value of split-interest agreements - 937 5,889          6,826 6,826          
Net assets released from restrictions (Note L) 45,552      (45,552)     - (45,552) -            

Total support, revenues, and gains 157,612      12,668        6,920          19,588        177,200      

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

With Donor Restrictions

THE LUTHERAN CHURCH—MISSOURI SYNOD AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statement of Activities
Year Ended June 30, 2021
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(In Thousands) Without
Donor Temporary Perpetual

Restrictions in Nature in Nature Total Total
Expenses

Programs
Mission and ministry programs
International Missions 19,518        -              -              -              19,518        
National Missions 6,179          -              -              -              6,179          
Pastoral Education 3,653          -              -              -              3,653          
University Education 787             -              -              -              787             
KFUO 937             -              -              -              937             
Communications 2,268          -              -              -              2,268          
National Housing Support Corporation 27               -              -              -              27               
Lutheran Center for Religious Liberty 432             -              -              -              432             
LCMS Holdings Limited – International 

School Operations 64,957        -              -              -              64,957        

Total mission and ministry programs 98,758        -              -              -              98,758        

Ecclesiastical programs
Corporate Synod 5,470          -              -              -              5,470          
Concordia Plan Services 30,068        -              -              -              30,068        

Total ecclesiastical programs 35,538        -              -              -              35,538        

Total programs 134,296      -              -              -              134,296      

Management and general
Corporate Synod 7,018          -              -              -              7,018          
Concordia Plan Services 694             -              -              -              694             

Total management and general 7,712          -              -              -              7,712          

Mission advancement 5,938          -              -              -              5,938          

Total expenses 147,946      -              -              -              147,946      

Gain on PPP loan forgiveness 7,485          -              -              -              7,485          
Foreign currency translation (Note B) 10,440        -              -              -              10,440        

Change in net assets 27,591        12,668        6,920          19,588        47,179        

Net assets at beginning of year 112,153      54,662        38,872        93,534        205,687      

Net assets at end of year 139,744$   67,330$     45,792$     113,122$    252,866$   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

With Donor Restrictions

Consolidated Statement of Activities – Continued
Year Ended June 30, 2021

THE LUTHERAN CHURCH—MISSOURI SYNOD AND SUBSIDIARIES
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(In Thousands) Without
Donor Temporary Perpetual

Restrictions in Nature in Nature Total Total
Support, revenues, and gains

Support:
District pledge -$            12,971$      -$            12,971$      12,971$      
Gifts and grants 2,875          29,609        1,427          31,036        33,911        
Bequests 867             4,469          -              4,469          5,336          
Contributed services (Note N) -              180             -              180             180             

Total support 3,742          47,229        1,427          48,656        52,398        

Revenues:
Investment, trust and other income 1,043          1,697          -              1,697          2,740          
Sales and services (Note O) 2,862          -              -              -              2,862          
Convention and Youth Gathering 11,354        -              -              -              11,354        
Concordia Plan Services 30,638        -              -              -              30,638        
LCMS Holdings Limited – tuition and other 63,630        -              -              -              63,630        

Total revenues 109,527      1,697          -              1,697          111,224      

Net realized & unrealized gain/(loss) on investments (401)            8                 -              8                 (393)            
Change in value of split-interest agreements -              (184)            (612)            (796)            (796)            
Gain on sale of assets 4,874          -              -              -              4,874          
Net assets released from restrictions (Note L) 45,906      (45,906)     -             (45,906)       -            

Total support, revenues, and gains 163,648      2,844          815             3,659          167,307      

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

With Donor Restrictions

THE LUTHERAN CHURCH—MISSOURI SYNOD AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statement of Activities
Year Ended June 30, 2020
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(In Thousands) Without
Donor Temporary Perpetual

Restrictions in Nature in Nature Total Total
Expenses

Programs
Mission and ministry programs
International Missions 21,609        -              -              -              21,609        
National Missions 5,396          -              -              -              5,396          

Youth Gathering 9,478          -              -              -              9,478          
Pastoral Education 4,438          -              -              -              4,438          
University Education 755             -              -              -              755             
KFUO 961             -              -              -              961             
Communications 2,421          -              -              -              2,421          
National Housing Support Corporation 612             -              -              -              612             
Lutheran Center for Religious Liberty 418             -              -              -              418             
LCMS Holdings Limited – International 

School Operations 57,184        -              -              -              57,184        

Total mission and ministry programs 103,272      -              -              -              103,272      

Ecclesiastical programs
Corporate Synod 7,917          -              -              -              7,917          
Concordia Plan Services 29,705        -              -              -              29,705        

Total ecclesiastical programs 37,622        -              -              -              37,622        

Total programs 140,894      -              -              -              140,894      

Management and general
Corporate Synod 7,833          -              -              -              7,833          
Concordia Plan Services 658             -              -              -              658             

Total management and general 8,491          -              -              -              8,491          

Fundraising 6,192          -              -              -              6,192          

Total expenses 155,577      -              -              -              155,577      

Foreign currency translation (Note B) (3,031)         -              -              -              (3,031)         

Change in net assets 5,040          2,844          815             3,659          8,699          

Net assets at beginning of year 107,113      51,818        38,057        89,875        196,988      

Net assets at end of year 112,153$   54,662$     38,872$     93,534$      205,687$   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

With Donor Restrictions

Consolidated Statement of Activities – Continued
Year Ended June 30, 2020

THE LUTHERAN CHURCH—MISSOURI SYNOD AND SUBSIDIARIES
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THE LUTHERAN CHURCH—MISSOURI SYNOD AND SUBSIDIARIES

(In Thousands) Management Mission
Program & General Advancement Total

Salaries and wages 51,605$      3,554$        3,003$        58,162$      
Employee benefits 28,182        1,378          1,149          30,709        
Contracted services 1,853          1,006          42               2,901          
Grants 13,588        1 - 13,589
Travel and meetings 476             12               36               524             
Professional fees/consultants 6,834          334             197             7,365          
Equipment, furniture & fixtures 427             196             196             819             
Depreciation 4,153          275             50               4,478          
Maintenance and supplies 1,076          178             47               1,301          
Insurance 450             406             - 856
Advertising and promotion 64               - 1 65
Utilities 218             162             81               461
Bank charges and fees 226             42               205             473
Mailing 275             55               371             701
Printing 511             8 370             889
Taxes 8,203          -              -              8,203          
Other operating costs 16,155        105             190             16,450        

Totals 134,296$    7,712$        5,938$        147,946$    

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Functional Expenses
Year Ended June 30, 2021

-8-



THE LUTHERAN CHURCH—MISSOURI SYNOD AND SUBSIDIARIES

(In Thousands) Management Mission
Program & General Advancement Total

Salaries and wages 52,085$      3,735$        3,141$        58,961$      
Employee benefits 27,423        1,481          1,231          30,135        
Contracted services 6,034          1,130          53               7,217          
Grants 15,119        5                 -              15,124        
Travel and meetings 4,066          87               112             4,265          
Professional fees/consultants 6,410          420             181             7,011          
Equipment, furniture & fixtures 913             176             197             1,286          
Depreciation 5,101          265             50               5,416          
Maintenance and supplies 1,180          239             63               1,482          
Insurance 375             402             -              777             
Advertising and promotion 1,000          -              2                 1,002          
Utilities 417             173             75               665             
Bank charges and fees 74               39               203             316             
Mailing 428             27               424             879             
Printing 574             7                 292             873             
Home construction costs 50               -              -              50               
Taxes 2,137          -              -              2,137          
Other operating costs 17,508        305             168             17,981        

Totals 140,894$    8,491$        6,192$        155,577$    

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Functional Expenses
Year Ended June 30, 2020

-9-



2021 2020
Cash flows from operating activities:

Change in net assets 47,179$     8,699$       
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash provided

by operating activities:
Depreciation 4,478         5,416         
Loss on fixed asset retirement 418            207            
Allowance adjustment for uncollectible receivables (40)            37              
(Gain)/loss on investments (6,797)       322            
(Gain)/loss on value of split interest agreements (6,826)       797            
Gain on PPP loan forgiveness (7,402)       -            
Loss/(gain) on sale of fixed assets 21              (4,864)       
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Increase in accrued interest receivable (1,147)       (325)          
Decrease in contributions receivable 1,123         442            
Decrease in accounts receivable 1,532         1,931         
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets (1,790)       6,073         
Increase in funds held in custody by others (1,477)       (1,626)       
Decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses (304)          (2,237)       
Increase (decrease) in support payable to related entities 603            (2,548)       
Increase (decrease) in deferred revenues and other liabilities 16,124       (16,653)     
(Decrease) increase in advance payments for third-party billings (2,867)       6,081         
Increase (decrease) in funds held in custody for others 14              (29)            
Contributions restricted for long-term investment (1,031)       (1,427)       

Net cash provided by operating activities 41,811       296            

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property, plant, and equipment (1,142)       (2,189)       
Purchases of investments (59,081)     (43,520)     
Proceeds from sale of investments 259            160            
Additions to notes receivable (380)          (150)          
Principal collections on notes receivable 439            8,295         

Net cash used in investing activities (59,905)     (37,404)     

Cash flows from financing activities:
(Decrease) increase in funds on deposit by related entities (840)          585            
Decrease in line of credit -            (395)          
Increase in notes payable 1,696         7,402         
Payments on notes payable (3,391)       (456)          
Payments on capital lease obligation (222)          (204)          
Contributions restricted for long-term investment 1,031         1,427         

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (1,726)       8,359         

Effect of exchange rate changes (3,024)       119            

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (22,844)     (28,630)     

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 118,883     147,513     

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 96,039$     118,883$   

Supplemental cash flow data:
Interest paid 125$          82$            
Taxes paid 8,203$       2,137$       

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

In Thousands

THE LUTHERAN CHURCH—MISSOURI SYNOD AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Year Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020
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Note A - Summary of Organization  
  
 The Lutheran Church—Missouri Synod (LCMS or the Synod) was organized in the state of Missouri in 1847 

for the conservation and promotion of the unity of the true faith, strengthening congregations and their 
members in giving bold witness by word and deed, recruiting and training professional church workers, and 
extending the gospel witness into all the world. The LCMS was incorporated as a not-for-profit corporation 
in 1894 to manage the business affairs of the Synod at large, officially adopting the present name in 1947. 
For purposes of this report, the name LCMS or the Synod refers to LCMS, Inc. and the related organizations 
consolidated in this report. 

 
 The Board of Directors is the legal representative of the Synod. It is the custodian of all property of the Synod, 

directly or by its delegation of such authority to an agency of the Synod. It exercises supervision over all 
property and business affairs of the Synod except in those areas where authority has been delegated to another 
agency of the Synod, or where through the adoption of bylaws or other convention action specific areas of 
responsibility have been assigned to separate boards or trust entities, and as to those, the Board of Directors 
has general oversight responsibility. 

 
 The Synod, under the direction of its Board of Directors, is presently responsible for managing and reporting 

the following: 
 
  Programs: 

   International Mission – Coordinates and supports the ministries of the Synod in foreign countries.  
Its functions include the placement and support of foreign missionaries, establishment and maintenance 
of international schools, coordination of international relief efforts, and support and encouragement of 
international partner churches in conjunction with the Office of the President. 

 
   National Mission – Coordinates and supports domestic ministries and especially congregations and 

schools through their districts. Such ministries may include school ministries and accreditation, human 
care and domestic disaster response, stewardship, evangelism, church planting and revitalization, youth 
ministry, ethnic ministries, and granting recognized service organization status to deserving 
organizations. A major activity of the National Mission department is the triennial National Youth 
Gathering. 

 
   Pastoral Education – Plans, promotes, and coordinates pastoral education to provide healthy, well-trained 

clergy for the LCMS. The scope of this activity includes pre-seminary education, seminary education, 
and post-seminary continuing education within the Synod. 

 
   University Education – Reflects the support given by the Synod to the Concordia University System, 

Inc. (CUS) and all the Synod’s colleges and universities to assist in providing for the education of 
commissioned ministers, other professional church workers for the Synod, and others desiring a Lutheran 
liberal arts education. 

 
   Communications – Exists to interpret the Synod’s purpose and programs to its members and to promote 

an increased understanding on the part of the Church’s publics of the church’s mission. 
 

   KFUO radio – Managed by the President’s Office, the Christian radio station is operated out of St. Louis, 
Missouri to provide distinctively Lutheran programming around the world. 
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Note A - Summary of Organization (Continued) 

Ecclesiastical Programs – Includes all commissions and committees established by the constitution, the 
Boards for International and National Missions, Council of Presidents, President and Vice-Presidents, 
Secretary, Chief Mission Officer, church relations, legal, rosters, Concordia Historical Institute subsidy, 
and triennial synodical convention. 

Management and General – Includes the Board of Directors, Chief Administrative and Financial Officers, 
insurance, accounting, audit, information technologies, human resources, operational services, interest, 
foreign exchange, and miscellaneous expenses, some of which are incurred by the Synod for the benefit of 
other related entities and accordingly billed to those entities. 

Mission Advancement – Serves as the fundraising and donor-relations arm of the Synod, working closely 
with the LCMS Foundation who supplies specialized services or products to donors. 

The Synod relies on donations from its over 6,000 congregations as well as donations from individuals and 
grants from agencies for the majority of its support. These donations and grants are subject to fluctuations in 
the economic status of the area in which the congregations, individuals, and agencies are located. 

Other Related Organizations 

The Synod in convention has authorized the formation of 35 districts as separate legal entities to achieve its 
objectives and carry on its activities. It has also formed, as separate not-for-profit corporations, 8 educational 
institutions, CUS, a publishing house, a foundation, church extension programs, and its archives.  
The accompanying consolidated financial statements represent the operations of the Synod national offices, 
including Synodical administration over which the Board of Directors of the Synod has direct responsibility 
and control, and do not include the operations of the districts, universities, seminaries, CUS, Concordia 
Publishing House (CPH), The Lutheran Church—Missouri Synod Foundation (Foundation), Lutheran 
Church Extension Fund (LCEF), and Concordia Historical Institute (CHI), for which the Board of Directors 
of the Synod has oversight responsibilities as further explained in Note B, “Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies.”  

The Board of Directors allocates available funds to program boards, commissions, and departments of the 
corporate Synod and holds them responsible.  

Concordia Plan Services 

Concordia Plan Services (CPS) is a not-for-profit subsidiary corporation formed by approval of the Synod’s 
Board of Directors to administer the benefit plans of the Synod. Established in the state of Missouri, CPS 
began operations effective July 1, 2005 and has the Synod as its sole member. 

CPS administers the employee benefit plans (Concordia Retirement Plan (CRP), Concordia Disability and 
Survivor Plan (CDSP), Concordia Health Plan (CHP), and the Concordia Retirement Savings Plan (CRSP), 
collectively, the Plans) established by the Synod. The consolidated financial statements of the Synod do not 
include the operations of the Plans. 
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Note A - Summary of Organization (Continued) 

The Synod has all powers which can be vested in members of a corporation under the Missouri Nonprofit 
Corporation Act. Subject to limitations, the business and property of CPS is managed and controlled by a 
Board of Directors. The duly appointed and serving members of the Board of Trustees of the Concordia Plans 
of the Lutheran Church—Missouri Synod also shall serve as the Board of Directors of CPS, provided, 
however, that the Chief Financial Officer of the Synod shall serve as a nonvoting member. 

The Synod and CPS are organizations described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, 
as amended, and have received a determination letter from the Internal Revenue Service stating that it is 
exempt from federal income taxes on income from related exempt activities under Code Section 501(a). 

CPS Ancillary Program Agency (Concordia Resources) is a not-for-profit corporation organized for the 
provision, management or arrangement for products and services that are ancillary to the products and 
services administered by CPS. Established in the state of Missouri in 2015, Concordia Resources began 
operations in January 2016 with CPS as its sole member. CPS has all powers which can be vested in members 
of a corporation under the Missouri Nonprofit Corporation Act. Subject to limitations, the business and 
property of Concordia Resources is managed and controlled by a Board of Directors. 

LCMS National Housing Support Corporation 

A wholly owned subsidiary corporation of the Synod, the LCMS National Housing Support Corporation 
(NHSC) was formed by the Board of Directors of the Synod for the primary purpose of furthering the housing 
ministry of the Synod. 

As a not-for-profit organization, organized in the state of Missouri in 2004 for charitable and educational 
purposes within the meaning of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the 
Code), NHSC was included and is covered under the Synod’s group exempt ruling, issued by the Internal 
Revenue Service (IRS) in January 1965.  

In 2020, the NHSC Board of Directors concluded it was no longer financially feasible for the NHSC to 
remain a viable entity and decided to cease operations which was officially concluded as of June 30, 2021. 

LCMS Holdings, Ltd. Hong Kong 

A wholly owned subsidiary corporation of the Synod, LCMS Holdings, Ltd. Hong Kong (LCMS Holdings) 
is a limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. Its principal activity is investment holding. The 
principal activity of its subsidiaries, Concordia International School Shanghai (CISS) and Concordia 
International School Hanoi (CISH), is operating a school for expatriate children in Shanghai and Hanoi 
respectively. 

Lutheran Center for Religious Liberty (LCRL) 

A wholly owned subsidiary corporation of the Synod, LCRL was formed by the Board of Directors of the 
LCMS for the primary purpose of educating and advancing the Synod’s religious beliefs. The Synod 
maintains control over the LCRL, having delegated its powers to be exercised by the Board of Directors for 
the LCRL. The LCRL is a not-for-profit organization, organized in the state of Missouri in 2015 within the 
meaning of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and was granted its own separate tax-
exempt status by the IRS on June 11, 2018, rendering it exempt from federal income taxes on income from 
related exempt activities under Code Section 501(a). 
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Note B - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Basis of Presentation 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. The Synod 
is required to report information regarding its financial position and activities according to two classes of net 
assets—net assets with donor restrictions and net assets without donor restrictions—defined as follows: 

Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions – Net assets available for use in general operations and not subject to 
donor (or certain grantor) restrictions. The Board of Directors have designated, from net assets without donor 
restrictions, net assets for board-designated endowment and other specified purposes. 

Net Assets With Donor Restrictions – Net assets subject to donor- (or certain grantor-) imposed restrictions. 
Some donor-imposed restrictions are temporary in nature, such as those that will be met by the passage of 
time or other events specified by the donor. Other donor-imposed restrictions are perpetual in nature, where 
the donor stipulates that resources be maintained in perpetuity. 

Principles of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Lutheran Church—Missouri Synod, 
National Housing Support Corporation, Lutheran Center for Religious Liberty, Concordia Plan Services, and 
LCMS Holdings, Ltd. All subsidiaries are consolidated following the requirements of the FASB ASC 958-
810, Not-for-Profit Entities—Consolidation. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have 
been eliminated. 

Use of Estimates 

The presentation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could 
differ from those estimates. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

For consolidated financial statement purposes, the Synod considers currency, demand deposits, and liquid 
investments with a maturity of three months or less, when purchased, to be cash equivalents.  
At June 30, 2021 and 2020, cash and cash equivalents include deposits held at LCEF. At times, bank deposits 
may be in excess of federally insured limits. 

Notes and Accounts Receivable 
Notes and accounts receivable are carried at unpaid principal balances, less an allowance for loan and other 
losses. The allowance for loan losses is increased by charges to the change in net assets and decreased by 
charge-offs (net of recoveries). Management’s periodic evaluation of the adequacy of the allowance is 
based on the Synod’s past loan loss experience, specific impaired loans, adverse situations that may affect 
the borrower’s ability to repay, estimated value of any underlying collateral, and current economic 
conditions. Past due status is determined based on contractual terms. Loans are considered impaired if 
full principal or interest payments are not anticipated in accordance with the contractual terms.  
The Synod’s practice is to charge off any loan or portion of a loan when the loan is determined by 
management to be uncollectible due to the borrower’s failure to meet repayment terms, the borrower’s 
deteriorating or deteriorated financial condition, the depreciation of the underlying collateral, or for other 
reasons. 
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Note B - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Interest ceases to be accrued on loans when management believes, after considering economic conditions, 
business conditions, and collection efforts, that loans are impaired, or collection of interest is doubtful. 
Uncollected accrued interest is charged off or an allowance is established by a charge to interest income. 
Interest income on such loans is recognized only to the extent cash payments are received. 

Interest on loans is recognized over the term of the loan and is calculated using the simple-interest method 
on principal amounts outstanding. 

Investments and Recognition of Gains and Losses 

The Synod carries investments at fair value. Gains and losses, both realized and unrealized, are recognized 
in the consolidated statement of activities and reflected as increases or decreases in net assets without donor 
restrictions or net assets with donor restrictions that are temporary in nature. 

Split-Interest Agreements 

Split-interest agreements consist primarily of irrevocable charitable remainder trusts and charitable gift 
annuities. The assets associated with such agreements are held by the Foundation. Contributions are 
recognized as either contributions receivable or funds held in custody by others and gift income when the 
Synod is notified of the agreements, and are recorded at the present value of the estimated future benefits to 
be received when the assets are distributed to the Synod. The valuations of the agreements are initially 
calculated by the Foundation. The agreements are re-valued annually and any resulting actuarial gain or loss 
is reflected in the consolidated statement of activities as a change in value of split-interest agreements. 

Capitalization of Collections 

The Synod does not record or capitalize its collections of works of art, historical treasures, and similar assets 
donated or purchased. These collections are held for public exhibition, education, and research in furtherance 
of the Synod’s public ministry. Management believes the collections are appropriately cared for and 
preserved and are subject to a policy that generally requires the proceeds from sales of collection items, if 
any, to be used to acquire other items for the collection. 

Revenue Recognition – Contributions 

The Synod recognizes contributions as support when they are received or unconditionally pledged. 
Contributions are considered conditional when a measurable barrier and right of return or release exists. The 
contributions become unconditional and are recognized as revenue when the barriers upon which they depend 
are overcome. Amounts pledged are presented as contributions receivable and are stated at the net present 
value of the amount expected to be collected from outstanding balances. The Synod provides for an estimated 
uncollectible amount based on historical experience and industry trends. 

The Synod reports gifts of cash and other assets as restricted support if they are received with donor 
stipulations that limit the use of the donated assets. Donor-imposed restrictions are released when a restriction 
expires, that is, when the stipulated time has elapsed, when the stipulated purpose for which the resource was 
restricted has been fulfilled, or both, and reported in the consolidated statement of activities and changes in 
net assets as net assets released from restrictions. 
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Note B - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

The Synod reports gifts of land, buildings, and equipment as support without restrictions unless explicit donor 
stipulations specify how the donated assets must be used. Gifts of long-lived assets with explicit restrictions 
that specify how the assets are to be used and gifts of cash or other assets that must be used to acquire long-
lived assets are reported as support with donor restrictions that are temporary in nature. Absent explicit donor 
restrictions about how those long-lived assets must be maintained, the Synod reports expirations of donor 
restrictions when the donated or acquired long-lived assets are placed in service. 

Revenue Recognition – Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

The Synod recognizes revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e., when control of the 
goods or services underlying the performance obligation is transferred to the customer. A performance 
obligation represents a good or service that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that are 
substantially the same. Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognized over time by reference to 
the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following 
criteria is met: 

1) The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Synod’s
performance as the Synod performs.

2) The Synod’s performance creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Synod
performs.

3) The Synod’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Synod and the Synod
has an enforceable right to payment for the performance completed to date.

Management has elected to apply a practical expedient to recognize service fee revenue on a portfolio basis 
when recognizing revenue from contracts whose terms and conditions are similar in nature. 

Exchange revenue for the Synod consists of merchandise sales, royalty income, and fees charged to outside 
organizations. Merchandise sales are point in time transactions, while royalty income and fees are over time 
transactions. 

CPS management fee, service revenue, and commissions are recognized over time as services are provided. 

LCMS Holdings tuition and school bus income is recognized over time on a straight-line basis over the school 
year. Application fee income is recognized at the point in time when the student applies to the school. Capital 
fee income is recognized at the point in time when each new student is enrolled at the school. 

Deferred Revenue 

Paid registration fees for future events are deferred at the time the fees are received. Costs associated with 
these events are considered prepaid expenses until the events have occurred, which are then recognized at 
that time. Tuition and fees received by the educational institutions of LCMS Holdings are deferred until the 
start of the academic year, which begins in August. 

Support Payable 

Pledges authorized and communicated to the recipient but unpaid at year-end are reported as liabilities and 
are included in support payable to related entities. With the exception of certain multi-year grants, all pledges 
are expected to be paid within one year. 
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Note B - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Advance Payments on Third-Party Billings 

CPS acts as the agent and performs billing, invoicing, and collection functions for the Plans. Payments 
collected by CPS and due to the Plans are recognized as advance payments on third-party billings in the 
statement of financial position. 

Land, Buildings, and Equipment 

Land, buildings, improvements, and equipment with a value of at least $5,000 and having a useful life greater 
than one year are capitalized and recorded at cost, except for property received by gift, which is recorded at 
the fair value at date of receipt. Buildings, including foreign mission properties (25 to 40 years), 
improvements (20 years), furniture and fixtures (5 to 8 years), and equipment (3 to 8 years) are depreciated 
over their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method. 

Land use rights are stated at cost less amortization and any impairment losses. Amortization is computed 
using the straight-line method based on the period over which the rights are granted by the relevant authorities 
in Shanghai in the People’s Republic of China. 

Endowments 

The Board of Directors has interpreted the Missouri enacted version of the Uniform Prudent Management of 
Institutional Funds Act (UPMIFA) as allowing the Synod to appropriate for expenditure or accumulate so 
much of an endowment fund as determined prudent for the uses, benefits, purposes, and duration for which 
the endowment fund is established, subject to the intent of the donor as expressed in the gift instrument. 
Unless stated otherwise in the gift instrument, the assets in an endowment fund shall be donor-restricted 
assets until appropriated for expenditure by the Board of Directors. Because of this interpretation, the Synod 
has not changed the way net assets with donor restrictions that are perpetual in nature are classified. 
The remaining portion of the donor-restricted endowment fund that is not classified as net assets with donor 
restrictions that are perpetual in nature is classified as net assets with donor restrictions that are temporary in 
nature until those amounts are appropriated for expenditure in a manner consistent with the standard of 
prudence prescribed by UPMIFA. In accordance with UPMIFA, the Board of Directors considers the 
following factors in making a determination to appropriate or accumulate endowment funds: 

1) The duration and preservation of the fund.
2) The purposes of the Synod and the endowment fund.
3) General economic conditions.
4) The possible effect of inflation and deflation.
5) The expected total return from income and the appreciation of investments.
6) Other resources of the Synod.
7) The investment policies of the Synod.
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Note B - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Line of Credit 

The Synod had a $10.0 million unsecured line of credit with LCEF for 2021 and 2020. As of June 30, 2021 
and 2020, there were no borrowings against this line of credit. The NHSC obtained a $300,000 line of credit 
with LCEF in August 2016 collateralized by real estate, which matured in August 2018, was renewed in 
November 2018 for $240,000, and closed in September 2019 due to closing the NHSC. At June 30, 2020 
and 2019 there were no borrowings against this line of credit. The NHSC obtained an additional $500,000 
line of credit with LCEF to fund its loan program with zero borrowings at June 30, 2020. This line of credit 
was cancelled and loan balances written off in October 2019 when the related loans receivable were 
transferred to LCEF. 

The Synod also provided an unsecured line of credit for its seminary in St. Louis of $2,393,000 and 
$2,195,000 and in Fort Wayne of $700,000 and $1,306,000 for the fiscal years ending June 30, 2021 and 
2020, respectively. As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, the variable interest rate was 3.875% and 4.250%, 
respectively, with no borrowings against this line of credit. 

PPP Loan Payable 

The Small Business Administration Paycheck Protection Program (PPP) loans obtained by the Synod in 
fiscal year 2020 were presented as a liability until forgiven or paid back. When these loans were forgiven in 
full and legal release received in fiscal 2021, the Synod reduced the liability by the loan balance and recorded 
a gain on extinguishment in the consolidated statement of activities. LCRL obtained a second PPP loan in 
March 2021 which is presented as a liability until forgiven or paid back. If any part of this loan is forgiven 
and legal release received, LCRL will treat this loan in the same manner as the first. 

Functional Allocation of Expenses 

The costs of program and supporting services activities have been summarized on a functional basis in the 
consolidated statements of activities. The statement of functional expenses presents the natural classification 
detail of expenses by function. Accordingly, certain costs have been allocated among the programs and 
supporting services benefited as follows: 

  

Expense Allocation Basis
Salary and benefits Estimates of time and effort
Building costs and depreciation Ownership percentage and full-time equivalents
Mailroom services Volume and headcount
Copying and printing Volume and headcount
Telephone Cost per phone
Expense Management System Headcount
Travel and meeting services Estimates of time and effort
IT department Estimates of time and effort
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Note B - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Foreign Currency Translation 

LCMS Holdings is located in Hong Kong, China, and Vietnam. The functional currencies of these foreign 
operations are the local currencies. The financial statements of LCMS Holdings subsidiaries have been 
translated into U.S. dollars. All statement of financial position accounts have been translated using the 
exchange rate in effect at the statement of financial position dates. Statements of activities amounts have been 
translated using the average exchange rate for the year. Foreign currency translation adjustments resulted in 
a gain of $10,440,000 in 2021 and a loss of $3,031,000 in 2020, which has been reported separately in the 
consolidated statement of activities. 

Change in Accounting Policy 

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606).” The 
ASU and all subsequently issued clarifying ASUs replaced most existing revenue recognition guidance in 
U.S. GAAP. The ASU also required expanded disclosures relating to the nature, amount, timing, and 
uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers. The Synod adopted the new 
standard effective July 1, 2020, the first day of the Synod’s fiscal year using the modified retrospective 
approach. Adoption of Topic 606 did not have a significant impact on the Synod. 

 Subsequent Events 

Management has evaluated events and transactions subsequent to June 30, 2021 through 
November 18, 2021, the date the consolidated financial statements were available to be issued and found 
no activity that would materially affect these consolidated financial statements. 

Note C - Investments 

The Foundation carries out its investment management services through various common funds to invest the 
assets entrusted to the Foundation. A common fund pools the assets of numerous smaller accounts to provide 
for greater diversification and ease of investment management. Holders of a common fund are called 
participants. The Synod is such a participant. Participants buy and sell units of the common fund asset.  
In order to determine the price per unit of a common fund, all assets held by the common fund (which can 
include individual securities or units of other common funds) are valued as of the end of the month (the 
valuation date). This value is divided by the total number of units held by the participants in the common 
fund to determine the per-unit value. Transactions in the common fund (either purchases or redemptions)  
are calculated based on the per-unit value on the valuation date. During the valuation process, the common 
fund accrues income and expenses for the valuation period. The net income to the fund is divided by the total 
number of units held by participants for the valuation period to establish the income per unit factor. 
Each participant receives an allocation of the net income determined by multiplying the income per unit 
factor times the number of units held by the participant of the common fund. Net realized and termination 
gains in Foundation common funds are also calculated and distributed semiannually to the participants. 
Certificates of deposit–LCMS Holdings represents long-term certificates of deposit owned by CISS.  
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Note C - Investments (Continued) 

Total investment return, reflected in the consolidated statement of activities, is shown net of related 
investment management fees of $111,000 and $103,000 at June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Details of 
investments held by the Synod at June 30, 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 

(In Thousands) 2021 2020

LCEF notes 1,686$     1,828$       
Common Trust funds managed by the Foundation:

Moderate balanced 60,973    45,896       
Equity 3,165      2,430        
Fixed income 1,568      1,333        
Core bonds 556         531           
Money market 1,001      2

Certificates of deposit–LCMS Holdings, Ltd. 85,504    32,289       

Total investments 154,453$ 84,309$     

Note D - Fair Value Measurements 

The Synod follows FASB ASC for Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures which establishes a 
framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. The standard 
defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. It also establishes a fair value 
hierarchy used to disclose the measurement of fair value based on levels of observable or unobservable 
inputs. The FASB ASC describes three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value: 

Level 1 – Observable inputs that are derived from quoted prices in active markets for identical assets 
or liabilities. 

Level 2 – Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; 
or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for 
substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities. 

Level 3 – Unobservable inputs that are significant and reflect substantial management judgment or 
estimation, including the use of pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies or 
similar techniques. 

Common Trust Funds are valued at the Net Asset Value (NAV) reported by each investment fund.  
The NAV, as provided by the investment fund, is used as a practical expedient to estimate fair value. 
The NAV is based on the fair value of the underlying investments held by the fund less its liabilities.  
This practical expedient is not used when it is determined to be probable that the fund will sell the 
investment for an amount different than the reported NAV. Transactions (purchases and sales) may occur 
daily. 
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Note D - Fair Value Measurements (Continued) 
 
Fixed income portfolio holds a broad range of investment grade bonds and higher quality, non-investment 
grade bonds. The portfolio’s focus is income generation with 75% core bond, 19% high yield bond, and 
6% cash. Moderate balanced portfolio holds both fixed income and equity securities. This portfolio is 
more evenly balanced between fixed income and equity, providing modest income generation and 
potential for growth. The portfolio is made up of 18% international equity, 9% high yield bond, 36% core 
bond, 28% domestic equity, and 9% cash. Equity portfolio holds both U.S. stocks and foreign stocks in 
developed and emerging markets. The portfolio’s focus is long-term growth with 38% international 
equity, 57% domestic equity, and 5% cash. 
 
The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for instruments measured at fair value 
on a recurring basis and recognized in the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position, 
as well as the general classification of such instruments pursuant to the valuation hierarchy. 
 
 Foundation Owned Endowments: Valued at the net present value of the revenue stream in perpetuity.  
 
 Irrevocable Trusts: Valued at the present value of expected future cash receipts adjusted for actuarial 

life expectancy of the gift annuitants including survivors.  
 
Management determines the fair value measurement valuation policies and procedures, including those 
for Level 3 recurring and nonrecurring measurements. Management assesses and approves these policies 
and procedures. At least annually, Management: (1) determines if the current valuation techniques used 
in fair value measurements are still appropriate, and (2) evaluates and adjusts the unobservable inputs 
used in the fair value measurements based on current market conditions and third-party information.  
The Synod recognizes transfers between levels in the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting 
period. 
 
A financial instrument’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input 
that is significant to the fair value measurement. The assessment of the significance of a particular input 
to the fair value measurement requires judgment and may affect their placement within the fair value 
hierarchy levels. 
 
The following tables set forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, invested assets as of June 30, 2021 
and changes in fair value of Level 3 invested assets during the year ended June 30, 2021: 
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Note D - Fair Value Measurements (Continued) 
 

(In Thousands)
Quoted Prices Significant

in Active Other Significant
Markets for Observable Unobservable

Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

Leveled investments
Irrevocable trusts -$          -$          5,813$       5,813$      
Foundation owned 

endowments -           -           31,779      31,779     
Lutheran Foundation of 

Texas -           -           332           332          

Total leveled investments -           -           37,924      37,924     

Common trust funds
Moderate balanced 60,973     
Equity 3,165       
Fixed income 1,568       
Core bonds 556          
Money Market/Cash 1,001       

Total common trust funds 67,263     

LCEF investments 1,690       
LCMS Holdings CDs 85,504     

Total -$          -$          37,924$     192,381$  

Fair Value Measurements

 
 

(In Thousands)
Net Unrealized

Beginning Additions/ Gains & Ending
Balance (Maturities) (Losses) Balance

Invested assets
Irrevocable trusts 5,299$      (315)$        829$          5,813$      
Foundation owned 

endowments 24,311     1,478       5,990        31,779     
Lutheran Foundation of 

Texas 325          -           7               332          

Total 29,935$    1,163$      6,826$       37,924$    

Changes in Level 3 Invested Assets
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Note D - Fair Value Measurements (Continued) 
 

The following tables set forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, invested assets as of June 30, 2020 
and changes in fair value of Level 3 invested assets during the year ended June 30, 2020: 

 
(In Thousands)

Quoted Prices Significant
in Active Other Significant

Markets for Observable Unobservable
Identical Assets Inputs Inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
Leveled investments

Irrevocable trusts -$            -$            5,299$         5,299$         
Foundation owned 

endowments -              -              24,311         24,311         
Lutheran Foundation of 

Texas -              -              325             325             

Total leveled investments -              -              29,935         29,935         

Common trust funds
Moderate balanced 45,896         
Equity 2,430           
Fixed income 1,333           
Core bonds 531             
Money market 2                 

Total common trust funds 50,192         

LCEF investments 1,831           
LCMS Holdings CDs 32,289         

Total -$            -$            29,935$       114,247$     

Fair Value Measurements

 
 

(In Thousands)
Net Unrealized

Beginning Additions/ Gains & Ending
Balance (Maturities) (Losses) Balance

Invested assets
Irrevocable trusts 5,329$         302$           (332)$          5,299$         
Foundation owned 

endowments 23,435         1,629           (753)            24,311         
Lutheran Foundation of 

Texas 310             -              15               325             

Total 29,074$       1,931$         (1,070)$        29,935$       

Changes in Level 3 Invested Assets
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Note D - Fair Value Measurements (Continued) 

The following table summarize investments measured at fair value based on NAV per share as of 
June 30, 2021 and 2020: 

(In Thousands)
Redemption

Fair Unfunded Redemption Notice
Value Commitments Frequency Period

Common Trust Funds 67,263$     - Daily Daily

2021

(In Thousands)
Redemption

Fair Unfunded Redemption Notice
Value Commitments Frequency Period

Common Trust Funds 50,192$       - Daily Daily

2020

Note E - Endowment Investment and Spending Policies 

The Synod has adopted investment and spending policies for endowment assets that attempt to provide a 
predictable stream of funding to programs supported by its endowments. Endowment assets include those 
assets of donor-restricted funds that the Synod must hold in perpetuity and Board designated 
endowments. Under this policy, the endowment assets are invested in a manner intended to balance the 
total investment return used to fund current operations. These policies act in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States and applicable laws in the state of Missouri. 

All endowment fund investments should be in accordance with the Synod’s investment policy and the 
respective earnings are subject to the endowment spending policy. Endowments containing restrictive 
investment language will be excluded from the policy and invested in accordance with the donor’s 
directions. Investment returns or earnings consist of interest, dividends, realized and unrealized gains or 
losses. All perpetual endowments will be recorded and maintained at the original value of an endowment 
gift when the gift was received. 

All endowment fund investments will be invested in The Lutheran Church—Missouri Synod Foundation 
in the following proportions: 40% in either the Standard Fund-Fixed Income or Mortgage Pool Fund, and 
60% in the Standard Fund-Equity. The Chief Financial Officer of Synod is responsible for all investments 
of the Synod and should review the investment allocation periodically, making recommendations for 
changes if necessary. All new investments will be invested in The Lutheran Church—Missouri Synod 
Foundation in the latest percentages approved by the Chief Financial Officer. 
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Note E - Endowment Investment and Spending Policies (Continued) 
 

From time to time the fair value of the assets associated with individual donor endowment funds may fall 
below the value of the initial and subsequent donor gift amount. When endowment values decline, net 
assets with donor restrictions that are temporary in nature are reduced up to the fair value of the original 
gift. Further reductions in the fair value of the endowments result in a reduction of net assets without 
donor restrictions. Such deficits result from unfavorable market changes and authorized appropriations 
and expenditures that are deemed prudent. The annual appropriation for endowment funds with deficits 
(underwater) are returned to corpus rather than released for spending. There were no deficits of this nature 
reported in net assets without donor restrictions at June 30, 2021 or 2020. 

 
The changes in and composition of endowment net assets for the year ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 are 
as follows: 

 

Without

Donor Temporary Perpetual
Restrictions in Nature in Nature Total

Endowment net assets,
beginning of year 3,341$     9,150$     17,070$    29,561$   

Contributions -         -         599           599         
Income earned on investments 350         2,164      -           2,514      
Unrealized gain/(loss) on

investments 561         3,263      -           3,824      
Appropriation of endowment

assets for expenditure 1,108      (1,108)    -           -         
Expenses paid from endowments (1,108)    -         -           (1,108)    

Net change in endowment assets 911         4,319      599           5,829      

Endowment net assets, end of year 4,252$     13,469$   17,669$    35,390$   

With Donor Restrictions

Changes in Endowment Net Assets

(In Thousands)
June 30, 2021
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Note E - Endowment Investment and Spending Policies (Continued) 
 

Without
Donor Temporary Perpetual

Restrictions in Nature in Nature Total
Donor restricted endowment funds:

Original gift 11$          6,735$     17,669$    24,415$   
Accumulated investment 

earnings -         6,734      -           6,734      
Board designated endowment funds 4,241      -         -           4,241      

Total endowment net assets 4,252$     13,469$   17,669$    35,390$   

With Donor Restrictions

Composition of Endowment Net Assets

(In Thousands)
June 30, 2021

 
 

Without

Donor Temporary Perpetual
Restrictions in Nature in Nature Total

Endowment net assets,
beginning of year 3,265$       9,149$       16,140$     28,554$     

Contributions -            55             930           985           
Income earned on investments 123           853           -            976           
Unrealized gain/(loss) on

investments (47)            (1)              -            (48)            
Appropriation of endowment

assets for expenditure 906           (906)          -            -            
Expenses paid from endowments (906)          -            -            (906)          

Net change in endowment assets 76             1               930           1,007         

Endowment net assets, end of year 3,341$       9,150$       17,070$     29,561$     

With Donor Restrictions

Changes in Endowment Net Assets

(In Thousands)
June 30, 2020
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Note E - Endowment Investment and Spending Policies (Continued) 
 

Without

Donor Temporary Perpetual
Restrictions in Nature in Nature Total

Donor restricted endowment funds:
Original gift (1)$            6,735$       17,070$     23,804$     
Accumulated investment 

earnings -            2,415         -            2,415         
Board designated endowment funds 3,342         -            -            3,342         

Total endowment net assets 3,341$       9,150$       17,070$     29,561$     

With Donor Restrictions

Composition of Endowment Net Assets

(In Thousands)
June 30, 2020

 
 
Note F - Contributions Receivable 
 
 At June 30, 2021 and 2020, contributors had promised to give the Synod $17,300,000 and $17,487,000, 

respectively. Irrevocable deferred gifts are those which the Synod is the beneficiary and will receive the 
principal at some future date. Management believes total contributions will be received as follows: 

 
(In Thousands)

Irrevocable
District Deferred
Pledges Gifts Other Total

Amount due:
Within one year 7,811$    470$       1,302$     9,583$    
One to five years -        1,934     264          2,198     
More than five years -        5,519     -          5,519     

Total Contributions Receivable 7,811       7,923       1,566       17,300     
Less:

Present value component -        (2,109)   (12)          (2,121)   
Allowance for doubtful contributions (300)      -        (300)        (600)      

Net Contributions Receivable 7,511$     5,814$     1,254$     14,579$   

June 30, 2021
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Note F - Contributions Receivable 

(In Thousands)
Irrevocable

District Deferred
Pledges Gifts Other Total

Amount due:
Within one year 8,382$    289$     1,500$  10,171$  
One to five years - 1,866 306   2,172   
More than five years - 5,144 - 5,144 

Total Contributions Receivable 8,382  7,299  1,806   17,487    
Less:

Present value component - (2,000) (15) (2,015) 
Allowance for doubtful contributions (300) - (300) (600)

Net Contributions Receivable 8,082$  5,299$  1,491$  14,872$  

June 30, 2020

Assumptions utilized in calculating the present value of irrevocable deferred gifts at June 30 are as follows: 

2021 2020

Growth rates 0% to 5.7% 0% to 5.8%
Discount rate 3.4% 3.5%
Distribution rate 7.0% 7.0%

As of June 30, 2021, the LCMS has received conditional promises to give of $275,000 for various programs. 
The commitments require a dollar for dollar match of the qualifying gifts until November 30, 2021.  
The conditional promises to give will be recognized when barriers are overcome. No revenue was recorded 
in the consolidated financial statements as of June 30, 2021. 
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Note G - Land, Buildings and Equipment 

Land, buildings and equipment consisted of the following: 

(In Thousands) 2021 2020

International Center (62.32% ownership):
Land and land improvements 842$      842$   
Building and improvements 11,459   11,383   

Total International Center 12,301   12,225   
Land 1,167   1,167  
Furniture and fixtures 4,652   4,314  
Equipment 16,898   16,228   
Foreign mission properties 395  395   
Work in progress 9  300   
LCMS Holdings, Ltd.:

Land use rights 6,074   5,543  
Property, plant and equipment 73,634   68,693   

Total land, buildings and equipment 115,130 108,865   
Less accumulated depreciation (71,307)  (63,268) 

Book value of land, buildings and equipment 43,823$ 45,597$   

The International Center is jointly owned by the Synod (62.32%), LCMS Foundation (12.68%) and 
Concordia Plans (25%). The Synod’s foreign mission properties represent property used in support of Synod 
administration and staff. 

Note H - Funds Held in Custody by Others 

The Synod is the beneficiary of the earnings on irrevocable trusts and various endowment funds held by the 
Foundation. The Synod will receive the earnings in perpetuity. The principal will not revert to the Synod. 
The perpetual stream of revenue is viewed by the Synod as promises to give by the individuals who 
established the trusts and endowments and has been recorded at the fair value of the trusts at June 30, 2021 
and 2020, which closely approximates the net present value of the revenue stream in perpetuity. 

Given the nature of the promises, the Synod has recorded these contributions as net assets with donor 
restrictions. Revenue received is recorded as activity with or without donor restrictions based upon the 
presence or absence of such restrictions. Increases or decreases in the fair value of the trust assets are recorded 
as changes in the endowments included in net assets with or without donor restrictions in the consolidated 
statement of activities. 
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Note I - Support Payable 

The following represents support the Synod has committed to pay at June 30, 2021 and 2020: 

(In Thousands) 2021 2020

CUS and seminaries 1,388$   1,200$     
CHI 415        415         
Human Care multi-year grants 1,302     887         

Total 3,105$   2,502$  

Note J - Notes Payable 

On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES Act) was signed into 
law. The legislation includes provisions for expansion of the U.S. Small Business Administration’s 7(a) Loan 
Program to support the new Paycheck Protection Program (PPP). The LCMS, LCRL, and CPS all applied 
and were awarded loans under the PPP of $4,047,000, $65,000, and $3,289,000, respectively, which also 
reflects the loan payable balances of these loans at June 30, 2020. The loans bear interest at 1% with any 
accrued interest to be forgiven along with the principal balance. These loans were unsecured, and all unpaid 
principal and interest was due upon maturity if not forgiven. Loans made under the PPP are forgivable if 
certain conditions are met. As of June 30, 2021, approval was received that these conditions were met for all 
loans, and full forgiveness was granted. The liability was extinguished, and income was recorded as a gain 
on loan extinguishment. The LCMS and CPS loans, however, are still subject to audit by the SBA since both 
exceeded $2,000,000. 

Under this same act, LCRL applied and was granted a second PPP loan for $30,000 which is also forgivable 
if certain conditions are met. LCRL plans to apply for forgiveness during the year ended June 30, 2022. 

LCMS Holdings had an outstanding loan balance with LCEF of $18,048,000 and $19,729,000 at  
June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, which includes four (three in 2020) separate loans to finance operations 
of a subsidiary of the Group. The first loan bears interest at 4.375% per annum for the first 5 years and 30-
day LIBOR plus 4% thereafter. It is repayable by monthly installments after June 30, 2016 with a final 
repayment on June 30, 2028. The second loan bears interest at 4% per annum until October 31, 2020 and 
lender’s cost of funds plus a maximum of 2.5% and prime rate in U.S. It is repayable by monthly installments 
after October 30, 2020 with a final repayment on October 30, 2040. The third loan bears interest at 4.875% 
per annum until February 6, 2021 which was fully settled during the year. The fourth loan bears interest at 
4.5% per annum until January 1, 2022. It is repayable by monthly interest installments upon each monthly 
due date with a final repayment on January 1, 2022. All four loans are secured by a pledge of all shares of 
company stock. 
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Note J - Notes Payable (Continued) 

Total future minimum payments for these borrowings based on current principal balances are as follows: 

(In Thousands) Year Ending
June 30

2022 2,415$       
2023 760            
2024 794            
2025 828            
2026 871            
Thereafter 12,410       

Total payments 18,078       

Note K - Board Designated Net Assets 

The Board of Directors has designated net assets without restrictions for the following purposes: 

(In Thousands) 2021 2020

Youth Gathering 506$      270$    
DCS Ministries Endowment Fund 76  59  
Mission Property Fund 280  280   
Risk Endowment 3,085   2,439  
Innovations in Communications 6,498   7,137  
Synodical Convention 791  250   
Convention mandated activities 149  148   
CUS 2,200   2,200  
Low-Income Housing 1,174   1,316  
Future projects 6,890   6,890  

Total Board designated net assets 21,649$ 20,989$   
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Note L - Net Assets With Donor Restrictions Temporary in Nature 
 
 Net assets with donor restrictions temporary in nature are available for the following purposes: 
 

(In Thousands) 2021 2020
Program restrictions:

Mission and ministry:
International Mission 21,958$ 16,976$   
National Mission 6,946     6,182      
Multi-Departmental 8,624     5,626      
Pastoral Education 4,057     2,185      
Communications 18          21           
KFUO radio stations 814        630         
National Housing Support Corporation -         4            

Total mission and ministry 42,417   31,624     

Ecclesiastical programs 854        727         
Management and general 1,362     1,317      
Mission Advancement 421        77           

Total program restrictions 45,054   33,745     

Time restrictions:
District Pledges 6,237     6,809      
Irrevocable trusts 5,814     5,299      
Term endowments 10,225   8,809      

Total time restrictions 22,276   20,917     

Total net assets with restrictions temporary in nature 67,330$ 54,662$    
  



THE LUTHERAN CHURCH—MISSOURI SYNOD AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements – Continued 
June 30, 2021 
 

-33- 

Note L - Net Assets With Donor Restrictions Temporary in Nature (Continued) 
 
 Net assets were released from donor restrictions by incurring expenses satisfying the restricted purposes or 

by occurrence of other events specified by donors. Program/time restricted net assets were released for the 
following purposes: 

 
(In Thousands) 2021 2020
Program restrictions:

Mission and ministry
International Mission 19,091$ 20,590$   
National Mission 4,857     3,400      
Pastoral Education 2,629     3,349      
Communications 4            5            
KFUO 718        774         
National Housing Support -         373         

Total mission and ministry 27,299   28,491     

Ecclesiastical programs 280        389         
Management and general 166        138         
Mission Advancement 4,808     3,831      

Total program restrictions 32,553   32,849     

Expiration of time restrictions:
District Pledges 12,999   13,057     

Total restrictions released 45,552$ 45,906$   
 

 
Note M - Net Assets With Donor Restrictions Perpetual in Nature 
 
 Endowment net assets are restricted to investment in perpetuity. The income from these investments will be 

used to support various Synod programs: 
 

(In Thousands) 2021 2020

Programs:
International Mission 18,428$ 15,986$   
National Mission 5,112     4,249      
Multi-departmental funds 8,931     6,817      
Pastoral Education 8,169     6,866      
KFUO 1,321     1,067      
National Housing Support Corporation -         436         

Total programs 41,961   35,421     
Management and general 3,831     3,451      

Total net assets with restrictions perpetual in nature 45,792$ 38,872$    
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Note N - Contributed Services 
 
 The Synod received donated professional teaching services for its overseas mission work. The Synod had 

approximately 6 professional full-time and part-time teachers for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020. 
Support arising from these contributed services has been recognized in the consolidated financial statements 
at the estimated fair value of the services received totaling approximately $180,000 for the years ended  
June 30, 2021 and 2020. In addition, a substantial number of unpaid volunteers made significant contributions 
of their time to LCMS World Relief, Youth Gathering, and other programs. The value of this service has not 
been reflected in the consolidated financial statements since it is not susceptible to objective measurement or 
valuation. 

 
Note O - Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
 
 The deferred tuition and fee revenues charged in excess of revenues recognized are presented as deferred 

revenues in the statement of financial position. The following tables summarize the deferred balances of these 
items as of June 30, 2021 and 2020: 

 
(In Thousands) 2021 2020

Beginning balance 30,695$ 53,839$   
Obligations fulfilled (58,726)  (73,101)   
Services and fees charged 70,891   49,957     

Ending Balance 42,860$ 30,695$   
 

 
 The following tables present exchange transactions with customers disaggregated by revenue source and 

pattern of revenue recognition: 
 

(In Thousands)
Point in Time Over Time Total

Sales 86$               -$              86$               
Service fees -              1,705          1,705           
Royalty income -              447              447              
CPS -              31,224        31,224         
LCMS Holdings 1,389          60,272        61,661         

Total 1,475$         93,648$       95,123$       

Year Ended June 30, 2021

 
 

(In Thousands)
Point in Time Over Time Total

Sales 480$              -$               480$              
Service fees -                 12,782            12,782            
Royalty income -                 419                419                
CPS -                 30,528            30,528            
LCMS Holdings 1,171              58,001            59,172            

Total 1,651$            101,730$        103,381$        

Year Ended June 30, 2020
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Note P - Inter-organizational Charges 
 
 The Synod provided various administrative services to related entities which is included in sales and services 

revenue as follows: 
 

(In Thousands)
LCMS Colleges/

CUS Foundation LCEF Seminaries Other Total

Chaplain Services -$    10$       -$    -$       -$     10$     
Rosters & Statistics 3        1          7        5           10        26      
Accounting 86      38        -     -        35        159    
Information Technology 19      -       -     -        -       19      
Human Resources 31      92        201    -        -       324    
General Services 15      104      33      -        -       152    

Total 154$   245$     241$   5$          45$      690$   

2021

 
 

(In Thousands)
LCMS Colleges/

CUS Foundation LCEF Seminaries Other Total

Chaplain Services -$      7$          18$       -$       -$      25$       
Rosters & Statistics 29         1            7          5            10         52         
Accounting 86         40          -       -         35         161       
Information Technology 22         -         -       -         -       22         
Human Resources 33         89          175       -         -       297       
General Services 14         118         64         -         -       196       

Total 184$     255$       264$     5$          45$       753$     

2020

 
 
Note Q - Employee Benefits 
 
 The Synod participates in the Concordia Health Plan (CHP), the Concordia Disability and Survivor Plan 

(CDSP), the Concordia Retirement Plan (CRP), and the Concordia Retirement Savings Plan (CRSP).  
The assets and liabilities of the respective plans are separate and distinct from those of the Synod and cannot 
be used to satisfy the liabilities and obligations of the Synod. Substantially all full-time employees are 
covered by the CRP, CRSP, and the CDSP. The CRP and CRSP provide workers with income during 
retirement. All full-time workers (those employed more than 20 hours per week and at least 5 months a 
year) are eligible. Eligible members in the CRSP are 100% vested in all contributions and earnings on 
the member’s account balance. The CDSP provides a disability benefit (for the worker) and a pre-
retirement lump-sum death benefit (for the worker and enrolled dependents). All full-time workers must 
be offered the opportunity to enroll themselves and eligible dependents in the CDSP. The CDSP pays a 
monthly income benefit equal to 70% of an employee’s monthly compensation when a worker becomes 
disabled due to a qualifying disability. The Synod contributes a fixed percentage of each participant’s 
salary to the plans. The Plan also provides health and welfare benefits covering substantially all full time 
employees (those employed 20 hours or more per week) and their families. 
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Note Q - Employee Benefits (Continued) 
 
 Total expenses are as follows: 
 

(In Thousands) 2021 2020

Concordia Health Plan 4,345$   4,861$     
Concordia Disability and Survivor Plan 449        509         
Concordia Retirement and Retirement Savings Plans 1,845     2,100      

Total 6,639$   7,470$     
 

 
 There were no significant changes in the Synod’s relationships to the plans over the past year. There were 

also no contingent liabilities associated with the plans at June 30, 2021 or 2020. Currently, the Synod has 
no intention to withdraw from the plans and the contributions and level of participation represent a small 
percentage of the plans.  

 
Note R - Liquidity and Availability 
 
 The LCMS receives significant contributions both without donor restrictions and with donor restrictions to 

be used in accordance with the associated purpose restrictions, including gifts to establish endowments that 
will exist in perpetuity; the income generated from such endowments is used to fund programs. The LCMS 
considers investment income without donor restrictions, board designated net assets, appropriated 
earnings from donor restricted and board designated (quasi) endowments, contributions without donor 
restrictions and contributions with donor restrictions for use in current programs which are ongoing, 
major, and central to its annual operations to be available to meet cash needs for general expenditures. 
The Synod also has a $10.0 million unsecured line-of-credit with LCEF available to supplement its cash 
requirements for 2022. General expenditures include administrative and general expenses, fundraising 
expenses and grant commitments expected to be paid in the subsequent year. Annual operations are 
defined as activities occurring during the fiscal year. 

 
 The following table reflects the LCMS’s financial assets as of June 30, 2021 and 2020, reduced by amounts 

that are not available to meet general expenditures within one year of the consolidated statement of financial 
position date because of contractual restrictions or internal board designations. Of the $168,861,000 and 
$136,188,000 total for 2021 and 2020, respectively, $153,181,000 for 2021 and $124,007,000 for 2020 is 
attributed to CISS which is not readily available to be used for the domestic operations of the Synod. 

 
 The LCMS has several board-designated funds totaling $21,649,000 and $20,989,000 as of June 30, 2021 

and 2020, respectively. Although the Board does not intend to spend from these funds  
(other than amounts appropriated for general expenditure as part of the Board’s annual budget approval), 
these amounts could be made available if necessary.  
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Note R - Liquidity and Availability (Continued) 
 

(In Thousands) 2021 2020

Financial assets at year end:
Cash and cash equivalents 96,039$   118,883$   
Accrued interest and dividends receivable 720         627           
Contributions receivable 14,579    14,872       
Notes and accounts receivable:

From Synod-related entities 983         2,135        
From others 5,642      6,095        

Investments 154,453  84,309       
Funds held in custody by others 32,114    24,640       

Total financial assets at year end 304,530  251,561     
Less amounts not available to be used within one year: 135,669  115,373     

Financial assets available for general expenditures within 
one year 168,861$ 136,188$   

 
Note S - Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others 
 
 To assist CUS and member schools in obtaining favorable financing terms, the Synod guaranteed 

$10,000,000 of a $45,000,000 unsecured line of credit CUS obtained from LCEF for 2019, which had 
outstanding borrowings of $16,254,000 at June 30, 2019. During fiscal 2020, CUS ended the practice of 
maintaining funds on deposit from member schools for financing purposes. Consequently, this line of credit 
was replaced by a new loan CUS obtained from LCEF for $15,385,000 to partially fund the repayment of 
these deposits which the Synod has guaranteed payment of $10,000,000. No payments are due for the first 
three years of the loan, followed by 20 annual payments of principal and interest with the balance due in full 
at maturity. Interest for the first two years is 0%, followed by 20 years at LCEF’s cost of funds adjusted 
annually, not to exceed 4% or be lower than 2%. This agreement requires CUS and LCMS to maintain 
various covenants. As of June 30, 2021, the LCMS is in compliance with these requirements. 

 
Note T - Contingencies 
 
 The Synod is involved in litigation arising in the normal course of business. After consultation with legal 

counsel, it is management’s opinion that these matters will be resolved without a material adverse effect on 
the Synod’s financial position or change in net assets. 

 
Note U - Risks and Uncertainties 
 
 The Synod invests in various investment securities. Investment securities are exposed to risks such as interest 

rate, market and credit risks. Due to the level of risk associated with certain investment securities, it is at least 
reasonably possible that changes in the values of investment securities will occur in the near term and those 
changes could materially affect the amounts reported in the consolidated statements of financial position. 

 
 The Synod’s two international schools operate in countries where national and/or local regulatory 

environments, with little or even no advance notice, might sufficiently and unpredictably change in ways that 
could cause significant disruptions to (1) school ownership/governance structures and/or (2) correspondence 
of school operations with Synod objectives. To date, none of the schools have received communications 
indicating impending changes that would lead to either governance or operational disruption. 
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Note V - Taxes  
 
 No provision has been made for Hong Kong profits tax as LCMS Holdings did not earn any income which 

is subject to Hong Kong profits tax. For 2020, no provision for taxation was required for CISH as it has a 
100% tax exemption for the first 4 profitable years and 50% exemption for the following 5 years. For 2021, 
taxation of CISH is calculated at a rate of 10% of its taxable income for the year with a 50% tax exemption 
applied. Taxation of CISS is calculated at rates prevailing in the People’s Republic of China, based on 
existing legislation, interpretations and local practices. Tax expense for CISH was $71,000 and $0, and for 
CISS was $8,132,000 and $2,137,000 for 2021 and 2020, respectively, and is included in LCMS Holdings 
Limited – International School operations on the consolidated statement of activities.  

 
 The Synod is exempt from Federal income tax under the provisions of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal 

Revenue Code except as to unrelated business income for which Form 990-T is filed. The Synod qualifies 
for the charitable contribution deduction under Section 170(b)(1)(A) and has been classified as an 
organization that is not a private foundation under Section 509(a)(2). The Synod has addressed the 
provisions of FASB ASC 740, Accounting for Income Taxes. In that regard, the Synod has evaluated its 
tax positions, expiring statutes of limitations, audits, proposed settlements, changes in tax laws and new 
authoritative rulings and believes that no provision for income taxes is necessary, at this time, to cover 
any uncertain tax positions. 

 
 Concordia Resources has recognized tax expenses of $46,500 and $19,900 for the years ending June 30, 

2021 and 2020, respectively, which are included on the consolidated statement of activities. 
 
Note W - Capital Lease Obligations 
 
 CPS entered into a five-year capital lease agreement with STL Communications on November 1, 2017 for 

telecommunications equipment and software, capitalized for a cost of $1,028,000. This lease was retired on 
June 30, 2020 and replaced with a new capital lease for phone equipment. CPS recorded a gain of $22,000 
upon the retirement of the previous capital lease asset. 

 
 As of June 30, 2020, CPS is the lessee in a five-year non-cancelable telecommunications equipment and 

maintenance lease agreement with STL Communications. The capital lease obligation was calculated as the 
present value of 60 monthly lease payments of $22,000; assuming an incremental borrowing rate of 3.5%. 
The present value of the capital lease was determined to be $1,209,000. The equipment under capital lease is 
being depreciated with the straight-line method over a period of five years. Amortization of the equipment 
under capital lease totaled $239,000 and $207,000 for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

 
 The value of equipment under capital lease, net of amortization was $968,000 and $1,206,000 as of  

June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Lease payments for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 totaled 
$261,000 and $222,000, respectively. 

 
 Total future minimum payments based on current balances are as follows: 
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Note W - Capital Lease Obligations (Continued) 
 

(In Thousands) Year Ending
June 30

2022 264$          
2023 264           
2024 264           
2025 264           

1,056         
Less amount representing interest 72             

Total principal payments 984$          
 

 
Note X - Other 
 
 During 2010, the Synod entered into an asset purchase agreement to sell the KFUO-FM radio broadcast 

license. The Synod has elected to account for the sale on the installment basis and defer recognition of the 
gain until payments are received under the purchase agreement. Interest accrues at 5.25% per annum. The 
remaining principal payments of $400,000 due in 2019 and $4,339,000 due in 2020 were both collected 
during the year ended June 30, 2020, eliminating both the receivable and deferred gain on sale balances at 
June 30, 2020. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report on Supplemental Information 
 
 
 
Board of Directors 
The Lutheran Church—Missouri Synod and Subsidiaries 
St. Louis, Missouri 
 
 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of The Lutheran Church—Missouri Synod and 
Subsidiaries as of and for the year ended June 30, 2021, and have issued our report thereon dated November 18, 
2021, which contained an unmodified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.  
Our audit was performed for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole. The consolidating schedules of financial position, activities, and cash flows on pages 41 – 46 are presented 
for the purposes of additional analysis of the consolidated financial statements rather than to present the financial 
position, activities, and cash flows of the individual organizations, and it is not a required part of the consolidated 
financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements.  
The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audits of the consolidated financial 
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to 
the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the 
consolidated financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the information, which insofar as 
it relates to LCMS Holdings, Ltd. as of and for the year ended June 30, 2021, is based on the report of other 
auditors, is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the consolidated financial statements as a whole. 
 
Prior Period Supplemental Information 

The June 30, 2020 consolidating schedules of financial position, activities, and cash flows on pages 47 – 52 
were subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the 2020 audit of The Lutheran Church—Missouri Synod 
and Subsidiaries consolidated financial statements by Brown Smith Wallace, LLP, whose practice became part 
of ArmaninoLLP as of August 1, 2021, and whose report on such information, thereon dated November 19, 2020, 
stated that it was fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole.    
 
. 
 
 ArmaninoLLP 
 St. Louis, Missouri 
 
November 18, 2021 
 



(In Thousands) LCMS Elimin-
Synod NHSC LCRL CPS Holdings ations Total

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents:

Domestic operations 15,440$    -$         851$        14,618$   -$          -$         30,909$    
LCMS Holdings, Ltd. Hong Kong -            -           -           -           65,130      -           65,130      

Total cash and cash equivalents 15,440      -           851          14,618     65,130      -           96,039      
Accrued interest and dividends receivable 720           -           -           -           -            -           720           
Contributions receivable – net 14,579      -           -           -           -            -           14,579      
Notes and accounts receivable:

From Synod-related parties 5,598        -           -           -           -            (4,615)      983           
From others 193           -           -           2,889       2,560        -           5,642        

Total notes and accounts receivable 5,791        -           -           2,889       2,560        (4,615)      6,625        
Land, buildings, and equipment – net of depreciation 4,756        -           -           1,863       37,204      -           43,823      
Investments 67,760      -           1,189       -           85,504      -           154,453    
Funds held in custody by others 32,114      -           -           -           -            -           32,114      
Prepaid expenses – Convention and Youth Gathering 1,329        -           -           -           -            -           1,329        
Other assets 978           -           -           1,193       33             -           2,204        

TOTAL ASSETS 143,467$ -$        2,040$    20,563$  190,431$  (4,615)$   351,886$ 

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 2,626$      -$         56$          3,396$     6,544$      (57)$         12,565$    
Support payable 3,105        -           -           -           -            -           3,105        
Funds on deposit by related entities 145           -           -           -           -            -           145           
Notes payable -            -           30            -           18,048      -           18,078      
Deferred revenue:

Convention and Youth Gathering 43             -           -           -           -            -           43             
Tuition and fees -            -           -           -           42,817      -           42,817      

Total deferred revenue 43             -           -           -           42,817      -           42,860      
Advance payments on third-party billings -            -           -           11,785     -            -           11,785      
Capital lease obligations -            -           -           984          -            -           984           
Other liabilities 155           -           -           243          12,959      (4,558)      8,799        
Funds held in custody for others 699           -           -           -           -            -           699           

Total liabilities 6,773        -           86            16,408     80,368      (4,615)      99,020      

Net assets
Without donor restrictions:

Undesignated (2,833)       -           1,954       3,276       72,859      -           75,256      
Board designated 21,649      -           -           -           -            -           21,649      
Net investment in land, buildings and equipment 4,756        -           -           879          37,204      -           42,839      

Total without donor restrictions 23,572      -           1,954       4,155       110,063    -           139,744    
With donor restricitons:

Temporary in nature 67,330      -           -           -           -            -           67,330      
Perpetual in nature 45,792      -           -           -           -            -           45,792      

Total with donor restrictions 113,122    -           -           -           -            -           113,122    

Total net assets 136,694    -           1,954       4,155       110,063    -           252,866    

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 143,467$ -$        2,040$    20,563$  190,431$  (4,615)$   351,886$ 

THE LUTHERAN CHURCH—MISSOURI SYNOD AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidating Schedule of Financial Position
June 30, 2021
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(In Thousands) LCMS Elimin-
Synod NHSC LCRL CPS Holdings ations Total

Support, revenues, and gains
Support:

District pledge 229$       -$        -$        -$        -$        -$        229$         
Gifts and grants 4,237      6             644         -          -          -          4,887        
Bequests 1,553      -          -          -          -          -          1,553        
Contributed services -          -          -          -          -          -          -            

Total support 6,019      6             644         -          -          -          6,669        

Revenues:
Investment, trust and other income 2,645      -          83           -          -          -          2,728        
Sales and services 3,012      -          -          -          -          (592)        2,420        
Concordia Plan Services -          -          -          31,224    -          -          31,224      
LCMS Holdings Limited – tuition and other -          -          -          -          65,626    -          65,626      

Total revenues 5,657      -          83           31,224    65,626    (592)        101,998    

Net realized & unrealized gain on investments 3,262      -          131         -          -          -          3,393        
Change in value of split-interest agreements -          -          -          -          -          -          -            
Net assets released from restrictions 45,552    -          -          -          -          -          45,552      

Total support, revenues, and gains 60,490    6             858         31,224    65,626    (592)        157,612    

THE LUTHERAN CHURCH—MISSOURI SYNOD AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidating Schedule of Activities – Without Donor Restrictions
Year Ended June 30, 2021
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(In Thousands) LCMS Elimin-
Synod NHSC LCRL CPS Holdings ations Total

Expenses
Programs:

Mission and ministry
International Missions 19,518    -          -          -          -             -          19,518      
National Missions 6,179      -          -          -          -             -          6,179        
Pastoral Education 3,653      -          -          -          -             -          3,653        
University Education 787         -          -          -          -             -          787           
KFUO 937         -          -          -          -             -          937           
Communications 2,268      -          -          -          -             -          2,268        
National Housing Support Corporation -          27           -          -          -             -          27             
Lutheran Center for Religious Liberty -          -          457         -          -             (25)          432           
LCMS Holdings Limited – Int'l School Operations -          -          -          -          64,957       -          64,957      

Total mission and ministry programs 33,342    27           457         -          64,957       (25)          98,758      

Ecclesiastical programs
Corporate Synod 5,470      -          -          -          -             -          5,470        
Concordia Plan Services -          -          -          30,531    -             (463)        30,068      

Total ecclesiastical programs 5,470      -          -          30,531    -             (463)        35,538      

Total programs 38,812    27           457         30,531    64,957       (488)        134,296    

Management and general
Corporate Synod 7,018      -          -          -          -             -          7,018        
Concordia Plan Services -          -          -          704         -             (10)          694           

Total management and general 7,018      -          -          704         -             (10)          7,712        

Mission advancement 5,938      -          94           -          -             (94)          5,938        

Total expenses 51,768    27           551         31,235    64,957       (592)        147,946    

Gain on PPP loan forgiveness 4,092      -          66           3,327      -             -          7,485        
Housing Corporation ending balance transfer 5             (5)            -          -          -             -          -            
Foreign currency translation -          -          -          -          10,440       -          10,440      

Change in net assets 12,819    (26)          373         3,316      11,109       -          27,591      

Net assets at beginning of year 10,753    26           1,581      839         98,954       -          112,153    

Net assets at end of year 23,572$ -$       1,954$   4,155$   110,063$   -$       139,744$ 

THE LUTHERAN CHURCH—MISSOURI SYNOD AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidating Schedule of Activities – Without Donor Restrictions – Continued
Year Ended June 30, 2021
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(In Thousands)
Synod NHSC Total

Support, revenues, and gains
Support:

District pledge 12,428$    -$          12,428$    
Gifts and grants 30,337      18             30,355      
Bequests 7,925        -            7,925        
Contributed services 180           -            180           

Total support 50,870      18             50,888      

Revenues:
Investment, trust and other income 3,122        -            3,122        
Sales and services -            -            -            
Concordia Plan Services -            -            -            
LCMS Holdings Limited – tuition and other -            -            -            

Total revenues 3,122        -            3,122        

Net realized & unrealized gain on investments 3,273        -            3,273        
Change in value of split-interest agreements 937           -            937           
Net assets released from restrictions (45,552)     -            (45,552)     

Total support, revenues, and gains 12,650      18             12,668      

Housing Corporation ending balance transfer 22             (22)            -            

Change in net assets 12,672      (4)              12,668      

Net assets at beginning of year 54,658      4               54,662      

Net assets at end of year 67,330$   -$          67,330$   

THE LUTHERAN CHURCH—MISSOURI SYNOD AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidating Schedule of Activities – With Donor Restrictions Temporary in Nature
Year Ended June 30, 2021
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(In Thousands)
Synod NHSC Total

Support, revenues, and gains
Support:

District pledge -$          -$          -$          
Gifts and grants 1,031        -            1,031        
Bequests -            -            -            
Contributed services -            -            -            

Total support 1,031        -            1,031        

Revenues:
Investment, trust and other income -            -            -            
Sales and services -            -            -            
Concordia Plan Services -            -            -            
LCMS Holdings Limited – tuition and other -            -            -            

Total revenues -            -            -            

Net realized & unrealized gain on investments -            -            -            
Change in value of split-interest agreements 5,772        117           5,889        
Net assets released from restrictions -            -            -            

Total support, revenues, and gains 6,803        117           6,920        

Housing Corporation ending balance transfer 553           (553)          -            

Change in net assets 7,356        (436)          6,920        

Net assets at beginning of year 38,436      436           38,872      

Net assets at end of year 45,792$   -$          45,792$   

THE LUTHERAN CHURCH—MISSOURI SYNOD AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidating Schedule of Activities – With Donor Restrictions Perpetual in Nature
Year Ended June 30, 2021
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(In Thousands) LCMS Elimin-
Synod NHSC LCRL CPS Holdings ations Total

Cash flows from operating activities:
Change in net assets 32,847$   (466)$      373$        3,316$     11,109$    -$        47,179$    
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash provided

by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation 510          -          -          562          3,406        -          4,478        
Amortization of capital lease -          -          -          239          179           -          418           
Allowance adjustment for uncollectible receivables -          -          -          (40)          -            -          (40)            
Gain on investments (6,666)     -          (131)        -          -            -          (6,797)       
Gain on value of split interest agreements (6,709)     (117)        -          -          -            -          (6,826)       
Gain on PPP loan forgiveness (4,048)     -          (65)          (3,289)     -            -          (7,402)       
Loss on sale of fixed assets -          -          -          -          21             -          21             
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Increase in accrued interest receivable (93)          -          -          -          (1,054)       -          (1,147)       
Decrease in contributions receivable 1,120       -          3              -          -            -          1,123        
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable 22            -          -          1,817       (294)          (13)          1,532        
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets (1,745)     -          7              (32)          (20)            -          (1,790)       
(Increase) decrease in funds held in custody by others (2,030)     553          -          -          -            -          (1,477)       
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued expenses 301          (40)          25            (317)        (286)          13            (304)          
Increase in support payable 603          -          -          -          -            -          603           
Increase in deferred revenues and other liabilities 193          -          -          14            15,917      -          16,124      
Decrease in advance payments for third-party billings -          -          -          (2,867)     -            -          (2,867)       
Increase in funds held in custody for others 14            -          -          -          -            -          14             
Contributions restricted for long-term investment (1,031)     -          -          -          -            -          (1,031)       

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 13,288     (70)          212          (597)        28,978      -          41,811      

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property, plant, and equipment (195)        -          -          (602)        (345)          -          (1,142)       
Purchases of investments (10,309)   -          (82)          -          (48,690)     -          (59,081)     
Proceeds from sale of investments 259          -          -          -          -            -          259           
Additions to notes receivable (380)        -          -          -          -            -          (380)          
Principal collections on notes receivable 439          -          -          -          -            -          439           

Net cash used in investing activities (10,186)   -          (82)          (602)        (49,035)     -          (59,905)     

Cash flows from financing activities:
Decrease in funds on deposit by related entities (840)        -          -          -          -            -          (840)          
Increase in notes payable -          -          -          -          1,696        -          1,696        
Payments on notes payable -          -          30            -          (3,421)       -          (3,391)       
Payments on capital lease obligation -          -          -          (222)        -            -          (222)          
Contributions restricted for long-term investment 1,031       -          -          -          -            -          1,031        

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 191          -          30            (222)        (1,725)       -          (1,726)       

Effect of exchange rate changes -          -          -          -          (3,024)       -          (3,024)       

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 3,293       (70)          160          (1,421)     (24,806)     -          (22,844)     

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 12,147     70            691          16,039     89,936      -          118,883    

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 15,440$   -$        851$        14,618$   65,130$    -$        96,039$    

Supplemental cash flow data:
Interest paid 48$          -$        -$        77$          -$          -$        125$         
Taxes paid -$        -$        -$        -$        8,203$      -$        8,203$      

THE LUTHERAN CHURCH—MISSOURI SYNOD AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidating Schedule of Cash Flows
Year Ended June 30, 2021
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(In Thousands) LCMS Elimin-
Synod NHSC LCRL CPS Holdings ations Total

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents:

Domestic operations 12,147$    70$          691$        16,039$   -$          -$         28,947$    
LCMS Holdings, Ltd. Hong Kong -            -           -           -           89,936      -           89,936      

Total cash and cash equivalents 12,147      70            691          16,039     89,936      -           118,883    
Accrued interest and dividends receivable 627           -           -           -           -            -           627           
Contributions receivable – net 14,869      -           3              -           -            -           14,872      
Notes and accounts receivable:

From Synod-related parties 5,663        -           -           1,109       -            (4,637)      2,135        
From others 209           -           -           3,516       2,370        -           6,095        

Total notes and accounts receivable 5,872        -           -           4,625       2,370        (4,637)      8,230        
Land, buildings, and equipment – net of depreciation 5,071        -           -           2,062       38,464      -           45,597      
Investments 51,044      -           976          -           32,289      -           84,309      
Funds held in custody by others 24,204      436          -           -           -            -           24,640      
Prepaid expenses – Convention and Youth Gathering -            -           -           -           -            -           -            
Other assets 563           -           7              1,161       430           -           2,161        

TOTAL ASSETS 114,397$  506$        1,677$     23,887$   163,489$  (4,637)$    299,319$  

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 2,325$      40$          31$          3,672$     7,397$      (62)$         13,403$    
Support payable 2,502        -           -           -           -            -           2,502        
Funds on deposit by related entities 986           -           -           -           -            -           986           
Notes payable 4,047        -           65            3,289       19,729      -           27,130      
Deferred revenue:

Convention and Youth Gathering -            -           -           -           -            -           -            
Tuition and fees -            -           -           -           30,695      -           30,695      

Total deferred revenue -            -           -           -           30,695      -           30,695      
Advance payments on third-party billings -            -           -           14,652     -            -           14,652      
Capital lease obligations -            -           -           1,206       -            -           1,206        
Other liabilities 5               -           -           229          6,714        (4,575)      2,373        
Funds held in custody for others 685           -           -           -           -            -           685           

Total liabilities 10,550      40            96            23,048     64,535      (4,637)      93,632      

Net assets
Without donor restrictions:

Undesignated (15,307)     26            1,581       (17)           60,490      -           46,773      
Board designated 20,989      -           -           -           -            -           20,989      
Net investment in land, buildings and equipment 5,071        -           -           856          38,464      -           44,391      

Total without donor restrictions 10,753      26            1,581       839          98,954      -           112,153    
With donor restricitons:

Temporary in nature 54,658      4              -           -           -            -           54,662      
Perpetual in nature 38,436      436          -           -           -            -           38,872      

Total with donor restrictions 93,094      440          -           -           -            -           93,534      

Total net assets 103,847    466          1,581       839          98,954      -           205,687    

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 114,397$  506$        1,677$     23,887$   163,489$  (4,637)$    299,319$  

THE LUTHERAN CHURCH—MISSOURI SYNOD AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidating Schedule of Financial Position
June 30, 2020
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(In Thousands) LCMS Elimin-
Synod NHSC LCRL CPS Holdings ations Total

Support, revenues, and gains
Support:

District pledge -$        -$        -$        -$        -$        -$        -$          
Gifts and grants 2,280      113         577         -          -          (95)          2,875        
Bequests 867         -          -          -          -          -          867           
Contributed services -          -          -          -          -          -          -            

Total support 3,147      113         577         -          -          (95)          3,742        

Revenues:
Investment, trust and other income 1,062      142         27           -          -          (188)        1,043        
Sales and services 3,416      3             -          -          -          (557)        2,862        
Convention and Youth Gathering 11,354    -          -          -          -          -          11,354      
Concordia Plan Services -          -          -          30,638    -          -          30,638      
LCMS Holdings Limited – tuition and other -          -          -          -          63,630    -          63,630      

Total revenues 15,832    145         27           30,638    63,630    (745)        109,527    

Net realized & unrealized loss on investments (358)        -          (43)          -          -          -          (401)          
Change in value of split-interest agreements -          -          -          -          -          -          -            
Gain on sale of assets 4,874      -          -          -          -          -          4,874        
Net assets released from restrictions 45,533    373         -          -          -          -          45,906      

Total support, revenues, and gains 69,028    631         561         30,638    63,630    (840)        163,648    

THE LUTHERAN CHURCH—MISSOURI SYNOD AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidating Schedule of Activities – Without Donor Restrictions
Year Ended June 30, 2020
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(In Thousands) LCMS Elimin-
Synod NHSC LCRL CPS Holdings ations Total

Expenses
Programs:

Mission and ministry
International Missions 21,609    -          -          -          -          -          21,609      
National Missions 5,396      -          -          -          -          -          5,396        

Youth Gathering 9,478      -          -          -          -          -          9,478        
Pastoral Education 4,438      -          -          -          -          -          4,438        
University Education 755         -          -          -          -          -          755           
KFUO 961         -          -          -          -          -          961           
Communications 2,421      -          -          -          -          -          2,421        
National Housing Support Corporation -          612         -          -          -          -          612           
Lutheran Center for Religious Liberty -          -          443         -          -          (25)          418           
LCMS Holdings Limited – Int'l School Operations -          -          -          -          57,184    -          57,184      

Total mission and ministry programs 45,058    612         443         -          57,184    (25)          103,272    

Ecclesiastical programs
Corporate Synod 7,917      -          -          -          -          -          7,917        
Concordia Plan Services -          -          -          30,136    -          (431)        29,705      

Total ecclesiastical programs 7,917      -          -          30,136    -          (431)        37,622      

Total programs 52,975    612         443         30,136    57,184    (456)        140,894    

Management and general
Corporate Synod 8,116      -          -          -          -          (283)        7,833        
Concordia Plan Services -          -          -          668         -          (10)          658           

Total management and general 8,116      -          -          668         -          (293)        8,491        

Fundraising 6,163      29           91           -          -          (91)          6,192        

Total expenses 67,254    641         534         30,804    57,184    (840)        155,577    

Foreign currency translation -          -          -          -          (3,031)     -          (3,031)       

Change in net assets 1,774      (10)          27           (166)        3,415      -          5,040        

Net assets at beginning of year 8,979      36           1,554      1,005      95,539    -          107,113    

Dividends paid -          -          -          -          -          -          -            

Net assets at end of year 10,753$ 26$        1,581$   839$      98,954$  -$       112,153$ 

THE LUTHERAN CHURCH—MISSOURI SYNOD AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidating Schedule of Activities – Without Donor Restrictions – Continued
Year Ended June 30, 2020
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(In Thousands)
Synod NHSC Total

Support, revenues, and gains
Support:

District pledge 12,971$    -$          12,971$    
Gifts and grants 29,586      23             29,609      
Bequests 4,469        -            4,469        
Contributed services 180           -            180           

Total support 47,206      23             47,229      

Revenues:
Investment, trust and other income 1,680        17             1,697        
Sales and services -            -            -            
Convention and Youth Gathering -            -            -            
Concordia Plan Services -            -            -            
LCMS Holdings Limited – tuition and other -            -            -            

Total revenues 1,680        17             1,697        

Net realized & unrealized gain on investments 8               -            8               
Change in value of split-interest agreements (184)          -            (184)          
Gain on sale of assets -            -            -            
Net assets released from restrictions (45,533)     (373)          (45,906)     

Total support, revenues, and gains 3,177        (333)          2,844        

Change in net assets 3,177        (333)          2,844        

Net assets at beginning of year 51,481      337           51,818      

Net assets at end of year 54,658$   4$             54,662$   

THE LUTHERAN CHURCH—MISSOURI SYNOD AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidating Schedule of Activities – With Donor Restrictions Temporary in Nature
Year Ended June 30, 2020
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(In Thousands)
Synod NHSC Total

Support, revenues, and gains
Support:

District pledge -$          -$          -$          
Gifts and grants 1,427        -            1,427        
Bequests -            -            -            
Contributed services -            -            -            

Total support 1,427        -            1,427        

Revenues:
Investment, trust and other income -            -            -            
Sales and services -            -            -            
Convention and Youth Gathering -            -            -            
Concordia Plan Services -            -            -            
LCMS Holdings Limited – tuition and other -            -            -            

Total revenues -            -            -            

Net realized & unrealized gain on investments -            -            -            
Change in value of split-interest agreements (598)          (14)            (612)          
Gain on sale of assets -            -            -            
Net assets released from restrictions -            -            -            

Total support, revenues, and gains 829           (14)            815           

Change in net assets 829           (14)            815           

Net assets at beginning of year 37,607      450           38,057      

Net assets at end of year 38,436$   436$         38,872$   

THE LUTHERAN CHURCH—MISSOURI SYNOD AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidating Schedule of Activities – With Donor Restrictions Perpetual in Nature
Year Ended June 30, 2020
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(In Thousands) LCMS Elimin-
Synod NHSC LCRL CPS Holdings ations Total

Cash flows from operating activities:
Change in net assets 5,780$     (357)$      27$          (166)$      3,415$      -$        8,699$      
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash provided

by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation 577          -          -          659          4,180        -          5,416        
Amortization of capital lease -          -          -          207          -            -          207           
Allowance adjustment for uncollectible receivables 115          -          -          (78)          -            -          37             
Loss on investments 322          -          -          -          -            -          322           
Loss on value of split interest agreements 782          15            -          -          -            -          797           
(Gain)/loss on sale of fixed assets (4,874)     -          -          (22)          32             -          (4,864)       
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

(Increase) decrease in accrued interest receivable 190          49            -          -          (564)          -          (325)          
Decrease in contributions receivable 402          -          40            -          -            -          442           
Decrease in accounts receivable 133          -          -          1,437       335           26            1,931        
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets 6,247       2              7              (170)        (13)            -          6,073        
Increase in funds held in custody by others (1,626)     -          -          -          -            -          (1,626)       
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued expenses (1,070)     (59)          (8)            207          (1,281)       (26)          (2,237)       
Decrease in support payable (2,548)     -          -          -          -            -          (2,548)       
Increase (decrease) in deferred revenues and other liabilities (9,307)     -          -          229          (7,575)       -          (16,653)     
Increase in advance payments for third-party billings -          -          -          6,081       -            -          6,081        
Decrease in funds held in custody for others (29)          -          -          -          -            -          (29)            
Contributions restricted for long-term investment (1,427)     -          -          -          -            -          (1,427)       

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (6,333)     (350)        66            8,384       (1,471)       -          296           

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property, plant, and equipment (216)        -          -          (497)        (1,476)       -          (2,189)       
Purchases of investments (22,851)   -          (976)        -          (19,693)     -          (43,520)     
Proceeds from sale of investments 160          -          -          -          -            -          160           
Additions to notes receivable (150)        -          -          -          -            -          (150)          
Principal collections on notes receivable 5,166       395          -          -          2,734        -          8,295        

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (17,891)   395          (976)        (497)        (18,435)     -          (37,404)     

Cash flows from financing activities:
Increase in funds on deposit by related entities 585          -          -          -          -            -          585           
Payments on line of credit -          (395)        -          -          -            -          (395)          
Increase in notes payable 4,048       -          65            3,289       -            -          7,402        
Payments on notes payable -          -          -          (150)        (306)          -          (456)          
Payments on capital lease obligation -          -          -          (204)        -            -          (204)          
Contributions restricted for long-term investment 1,427       -          -          -          -            -          1,427        

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 6,060       (395)        65            2,935       (306)          -          8,359        

Effect of exchange rate changes -          -          -          -          119           -          119           

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (18,164)   (350)        (845)        10,822     (20,093)     -          (28,630)     

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 30,311     420          1,536       5,217       110,029    -          147,513    

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 12,147$   70$          691$        16,039$   89,936$    -$        118,883$  

Supplemental cash flow data:
Interest paid 10$          49$          -$        23$          -$          -$        82$           
Taxes paid -$        -$        -$        -$        2,137$      -$        2,137$      
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